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120 South Commerce Street circa 1794-98 
Centreville 
Private 

This small brick dwelling house was constructed 
by James Croney soon after he purchased the lot from 
Elizabeth Nicholson in December 1793. It is one of 
two similar houses built by Croney between 1794 and 
1798. Both buildings feature the double parlor plan 
found in the original section of Tucker House. 
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renovation undertaken during the late 19th or 
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first floor opening. 

The gable walls remain largely intact. The 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

This small brick building on South Commerce 

Street is one of the oldest structures surviving in 

downtown Centreville, dating to the last decade of 

the 18th century. The original story-and-a-half 

brick dwelling had a two-room plan similar to 

Tucker House (QA-139) and the Robinette House 

(QA-156), two houses nearby which were later 

modified with the addition of side halls. 

Surviving examples of this plan type are quite 

unusual, and the close proximity of these three 

examples suggests it may have been more common 

in this area than generally assumed. Although 

this building has been altered considerably, 

several details of interest have survived. These 

include the Flemish bond brickwork on the south 

gable wall and the exposed put-log holes on the 

north gable. 
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7.1 DESCRIPTION 

"put-log" holes, similar to the Blue Lantern Inn 

(QA-148), located several houses to the north on the 

same block. There are two chimneys on this facade, 

each projecting approximately five inches from the 

wall U P to the first floor eave line, then corbeling 

back flush. A bricked-up original window opening to 

the left of the east chimney on the first floor was 

the only opening on this wall. 

The south gable is laid in Flemish bond, without 

put-log holes. A pair of two-over-two windows on the 

first floor and a smaller single window in the upper 

gable remain functional, but both cellar windows on this 

wall have been bricked up. 

The rear facade has been altered considerably. The 

brickwork is laid in four-course bond, but the original 

openings have been blocked and new openings cut in, 

leaving a disorderly mass of conflicting seams, patches, 

and openings. It would appear that the original 

fenestration consisted of a door in the center of the 

facade with a window to the left (north), but no 

opening to the right. Both of the original openings 

were lowered when the interior floor level was dropped 

to street level, leaving seams to show where the upper 

part of each opening was filled in. A new door was 

cut in to the right of the original door, allowing 
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7.2 DESCRIPTION 

exterior access to the second floor apartment. 

Nothing remains of the original interior. When 

the renovation took place, the interior was completely 

gutted. Several period doors remain on the second 

floor, and a number of shoring timbers below the first 

floor are evidently reused floor joists, as one of 

them displays a regular row of wrought T-head nails 

along the top face. 
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8.1 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

This building was one of two nearly identical 

dwelling houses constructed circa 1794-1790 by James 

Croney, a cabinetmaker from Caroline County. He 

purchased one-eighth acre, part of Lot No. 4, from 

Elizabeth Nicholson on December 31, 1793 for 

£,6.5.0. On the same day, Croney's father-in-law, 

William Cannan, purchased part of Lot No. 3 and Lot 

No. 4, directly adjoining Croney's lot to the north. 

Evidently Croney commenced construction of both 

houses soon thereafter, for the 1797 Tax Assessment 

lists him as the owner of both lots, with improvements, 

(3) 

(2) 

valued at $1700. The 1798 Federal Direct Tax is 

even more explicit, describing both houses in detail. 
(4) 

Lot No. 4 in Centreville 

1 Brick dwelling house 25 x 15 

8 windows without glass and unfinished 

1 granary 30 x 12 

1 logg corn house 8 x 12 
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3.2 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Part of Lot No. 3 in Centreville 

1 Dwelling house 1 1/2 stories brick 27 x 

not fully plastered 

1 kitchen logg 10 x 12 

small garden house 

The latter entry refers to 116 South Commerce 

Street (QA-150), the original section of which measures 

27 x 17, but has been enlarged by the addition of a 

stair hall along the south gable, and has been raised 

(5) 
from 1 1/2 to 2 1/2 stories. 

It is apparent that both houses were unfinished 

in 1793, and in view of Croney's 4 year ownership of 

the property, as well as financial difficulties in 

the years following, it seems likely that work had 

ceased on the buildings by 1798. 

Between 1793 and 1303, Croney sold both lots in 

a series of somewhat confusing transactions. In 1793 

he sold 42 square perches, comprising the west end 

of the two lots, fronting on Back or Liberty Street, 

( 7) to Charles Farrow, a cabinetmaker from Chestertown. 

In 1799, Croney sold 1/3 acre, part of Lot No. 4, to 

(B) Zebulon Skinner, and in 1303 he sold his remaining 



QA-151 

CONTINUATION SHEET 

3 . 3 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

i n t e r e s t i n L o t s No. 3 and 4 t o Z e b u l o n S k i n n e r ' s 
(9) 

two sons, William and Zebulon. No mention is made 

of any buildings, but it would appear that the 1/3 

acre sold to Skinner in 1799 included the brick 

house known today as 120 South Commerce Street. 

The 1793 Tax description is the last clear 

reference to the property until 1365, when Daniol 

Newnam's estate is settled, and a deed is recorded 

conveying the property to Sarah Goldsborough. This 

deed notes "the principal improvements on the lot now 

conveyed being a brick dwelling 1 1/2 stories high 

and meat house..." 

Tax lists have survived for Centreville for 

the period 1324-1360, and among Newnam's property 

holdings is an entry for part of Lot No. 4, improved. 

This entry appears in the earliest surviving list, 

and suggests that Newnam gained possession of the lot 

before 1324. However, several other owners are 

listed for parts of Lot No. 4, and ownership cannot 

be positively established. 

Sarah Goldsborough had evidently purchased the 

house and lot from Newnam before his death, for the 

deed recorded in 1365 notes that the executors were 
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8.4 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

merely formalizing an earlier sale, giving the price 

as $1825. 

In 1876, Sarah Goldsborough sold the property to 

(12) 

William W. Busteed for $675. The boundary des­

cription remains the sane, and it is not clear why 

the price declined so dramatically. Perhaps the 

interior was destroyed by fire, or perhaps other 

considerations entered into the sale. In 1878, 

Busteed sold the lot and improvements to Benjamin 

nex 

(14) 

(13) 
C. Watson. It is Watson's name which appears next 

to the building on the 1877 Atlas map of Centreville. 

(15) 
Watson sold the land to Ann C. Nicholson in 1832, 

and following the death of Ann Nicholson in 1896 

it passed to Joanna Nicholson, who sold the property 

(17) 
to Annie B. Price in 1905 for $350. During the 

Nicholson's ownership, the lot was divided in two, 

and the south half was sold separately. It is on 

this smaller lot that Jean Tubman's store now stands. 

The north half of the lot, sold to Annie B. Price, is 

described as being "improved by a small brick dwelling 

house, with a frame second story recently added..." 

Following the death of Annie B. Price in 1922, 

the property passed to Sallie E. Wilmer, who sold 
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3.5 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

(19) 
it in 1923 to Irene A. Straughn and Elizabeth Straughn. 

Irene Straughn died about the year 1939, leaving 

Elizabeth Straughn as the surviving joint tenant. 

In 1961, Elizabeth Straughn conveyed the property to 

James H. Straughn and his daughter, Laurlene Straughn 

Pratt. They sold the land in 1963 to Doris C. 

( 21) Loveland, and in 1973 Doris Loveland in turn sold 

(22) it to William F. Grovermann, the present owner. 
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Footnotes 

Deeds, Liber STW 2, folio 512. December 31, 1793. 

Deeds, Liber STW 2, folio 5 50. December 31, 1793. 

1797 Tax Assessment. It is clear that Croney had 

nearly completed 116 South Commerce Street by 

the fall of 1795, as William Cannan's will, 

executed November 15, 1795 and probated January 

7, 1796 included the following entry: 

...I give and devise unto my 

daughter Sarah Croney...the 

House and Lott in Centreville 

whereon she now lives, the Lott 

containing 5/0 of an acre... 

1790 Federal Direct Tax, Wye Hundred. 

Refer to inventory form prepared for QA-150, 

116 South Commerce Street. The two buildings 

are nearly identical in size, plan, and detail, 

exclusive of later alterations. 

Croney sold all of his Centreville property in 

the ensuing five years and evidently returned to 

Caroline County. Refer also to footnote 3 above, 

which shows 116 South Commerce was sufficiently 

completed by November 1795 for the Croney's to 

have occupancy, yet in 1790 it was not completely 

plastered. 
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Footnotes (Cont'd) 

(7) Deeds, Liber STW 4, folio 417. May 3, 1793. 

(3) Deeds, Liber STW 4, folio 153. November 30, 1799 

(9) Deeds, Liber STW 7, folio 12. December 5, 1303. 

Also refer to Deeds, Liber STW 5, folio 229, 

May 12, 1300; and Deeds, Liber STW 5, folio 457, 

April 4, 1301. 

(10) Deeds, Liber SED 1, folio 427. January 13, 1365. 

(3 1) These tax lists are stored at the Maryland Hall 

of Records. Typed transcripts have been prepared 

for 1324 and at 5 year intervals for the period 

1330-1360. These are included in the Historic 

Sites Inventory research notes. 

(12) Deeds, Liber SW 6, folio 60. May 13, 1876. 

(13) Deeds, Liber JW 3, folio 9. February 3, 1378. 

(14) 1377 Atlas of Kent and Queen Anne's Counties 

(15) Deeds, Liber SCD 1, folio 465. May 26, 1332. 

(16) Wills, Liber FR 1, folio 255. Last Will and 

Testament of Ann C. Nicholson. Executed April 

10, 1390. Probated April 21, 1396. 

(17) Deeds, Liber JEG 3, folio 112. August 15, 1905. 
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(IB) Hills, Liber WTB 1, folio 310. Last Will and 

Testament of Annie B. Price, Executed Sept. 25, 

1919. Probated October 3, 1922. 

(19) Deeds, Liber BUT 12, folio 462. January 30, 1923. 

(20) Deeds, Liber TSP 63, folio 503. December 6, 1961. 

(21) Deeds, Liber CWC 37, folio 5 74. Sentenber 30, 1963, 

(22) Deeds, Liber CWC 75, folio 310. June 18, 1973. 
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